THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Appellate Case No. 2014-001816

RECEIVED

OCT 29 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Clarence Winfrey, Employee, Appellant,

v.

Archway Services, Inc., Employer,
and American Fire & Casualty Insurance
Company, Carrier, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Preston F. McDaniel, Esquire
MCDANIEL LAW FIRM
1315 Elmwood Avenue
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 771-7211

Attorney for Appellant

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Appellate Case No. 2014-001816

Clarence Winfrey, Employee, Appellant,

v.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHERE THE ISSUES BEFORE THE HEARING COMMISSIONER WERE WHETHER THE CLAIMANT HAD SUSTAINED COMPENSABLE INJURY BY ACCIDENT AND WHETHER HE WAS ENTITLED TO REINSTATEMENT OF WEEKLY COMPENSATION BENEFITS AND TO MEDICAL BENEFITS FOR ALL CAUSALLY RELATED INJURIES AND CONDITIONS STEMMING FROM THE ACCIDENT, AND WHERE THE COMMISSION FOUND COMPENSABLE INJURY BY ACCIDENT, FOUND THAT THE CLAIMANT WAS NOT AT MAXIMUM MEDICAL IMPROVEMENT AND REINSTATED ALL BENEFITS, THE FULL COMMISSION PANEL ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW BY DENYING THE CLAIMANT THE RIGHT TO EVER REQUEST BENEFITS FOR THE HEAD AND BRAIN.
- II. WHETHER THE CLAIMANT WAS FOUND NOT TO BE AT MMI AND IS REQUIRED TO LIST ALL POSSIBLY AFFECTED BODY PARTS ON HIS REQUEST FOR BENEFITS AND WHERE THE DEFENDANTS GAVE NO NOTICE OF THIS DEFENSE, THE FULL COMMISSION PANEL ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW BY PERMANENTLY DENYING THE CLAIMANT MEDICAL AND/OR COMPENSATION BENEFITS FOR INJURY TO THE BRAIN AND/OR HEAD.
- III. WHETHER THE FULL COMMISSION PANEL ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW BY CONSIDERING THE ISSUE AND BY DENYING THE CLAIMANT ON A PERMANENT BASIS ANY BENEFITS, MEDICAL OR COMPENSATION, RELATED TO INJURY TO THE HEAD AND/OR BRAIN WHERE THE CLAIMANT HAD REMOVED SUCH FROM CONSIDERATION AT THE TIME OF THE HEARING.
- IV. WHETHER THE FULL COMMISSION PANEL ERRED IN VIOLATION OF ITS STATUTORY REVIEW/DECISION OBLIGATION BY ALLOWING DEFENSE COUNSEL TO DRAFTS ITS OWN FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW ADDRESSING THE ISSUES RAISED FOR REVIEW AS REQUIRED BY LAW AND BY ISSUING AN ORDER THAT WENT BEYOND ITS DIRECTION AND BY ISSUING AN ORDER WRITTEN BY DEFENSE COUNSEL THAT DELETED AND/OR SUBSTANTIALLY MODIFIED UNRELATED BUT SUBSTANTIAL FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW MADE BY THE HEARING COMMISSIONER.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

After the Appellant's electrical shock accident which occurred on May 22, 2013, it was immediately reported and the case was accepted by the insurance carrier; and compensation benefits were started and paid and medical care was authorized and provided. On September 12, 2013, the Appellant (injured worker/Claimant before the Commission) received a SCWCC Form 15(II) in the mail notifying him that the case was being denied based on an alleged, "good faith investigation" which form further stated the basis was that the Appellant had failed to prove a compensable injury. The Appellant immediately filed a limited Form 15(III) Hearing Request to reinstate benefits for improper stop payment. Due to the basis of the denial being it was, "based on a good faith investigation" and thus the Respondents (Defendants below) were denying the claim because the Appellant had not sustained compensable injury under the Act, a separate Form 50 Hearing Request was filed requesting a determination that the Appellant had sustained injury by accident and the reinstatement of medical care and temporary total disability benefits from the date that those benefits had been stopped pursuant to the Form 15 II. (R., pp. 46-50). A responsive Form 51 was filed denying that the Appellant had sustained compensable

injury and having failed to establish compensable injury, denied entitlement to medical care and denied that the Appellant was entitled to temporary total disability benefits. (R., pp. 51-53). A hearing on the Form 50 and Form 51 was set on January 13, 2014 (R., p. 54). The Appellant's Pre-Hearing Brief and APA Submissions were filed on December 23, 2013 and the Respondents' Pre-Hearing Brief and APA Submissions were filed on January 2, 2014. (R., pp. 55-150; pp. 151-177). A hearing was held on January 13th before Commission Susan S. Barden. (R., pp. 294-321). Subsequently the Commissioner issued her notes awarding the case and on February 11th issued a clarification note on her Findings in reference to the brain. (R., p. 526).

On February 27, 2014 the Commissioner issued her Order finding, that although the Respondents initially in their Form 51 had denied that the Appellant had sustained compensable injury, it was their position at the hearing that they admitted the Appellant had sustained compensable injury and they agreed that it included injury to the neck and left shoulder but denied that it resulted in the need for medical care to the Appellant's heart and certain other body parts as listed in the Form 50 as being affected by the injury. The Commissioner found that the Appellant had

sustained injury and had established a need for medical care specifically as to the heart and related problems as being related to the injury. She also found that the Appellant was not at maximum medical improvement and placed the Appellant under his previously authorized treating physicians, Dr. Jeffrey Travis, M.D. and Dr. Lanneau Lide, M.D. for treatment of the Appellant's heart and all causally related problems. She awarded reinstatement of temporary total disability benefits and ongoing medical treatment until the Appellant reached maximum medical improvement. (R., pp. 1-22). In reference to the head and brain, the Commissioner found that the Appellant was specifically requesting only a finding of compensability and treatment for the heart at the time of the hearing and presented no medical evidence in reference to the head or brain and found that there was no evidence of any need for treatment for injury to the head or brain at the time of the hearing. (R., p. 16, Findings #14, #15).

The Respondents filed a Form 30 Request for Review and among other issues alleged that the Hearing Commissioner erred by failing to deny compensability of either a head and/or brain injury. (R., pp. 178-182). A Briefing Schedule was set and the Respondents filed their Appellants' Brief to the Full Commission on April 23, 2014 and the Appellant

filed his Claimant/Respondent's Brief to the Full Commission on May 2, 2014. (R., pp. 224-253). A hearing was held on the appeal on May 19, 2014 (R., pp. 502-525) and the Commission issued a request for a proposed Order to Respondents' Counsel on June 6, 2014. (R., pp. 527-528). A proposed Order was submitted and the Order of the Full Commission Panel was filed on July 25, 2014 wherein the Commission affirmed the findings and Decision of the Hearing Commissioner finding compensable injury, finding that the Appellant was not at maximum medical improvement and awarding medical care and temporary total disability benefits until further Order of the Commission, but reversed the Single Commissioner's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law related to an alleged head and/or brain injury and denied any entitlement to any benefits, medical or otherwise, for the head and/or brain. From the Decision of the Full Commission reversing the Single Commissioner's Decision in reference to specific areas of the body or body parts, the head and/or brain, this appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

As is set out in the Form 50 filed October 21, 2013, the Form 50 was filed due to the fact that the Respondents after having accepted the claim and having provided temporary total disability benefits and medical care had

filed a Form 15(II) stopping benefits based on an alleged good faith investigation and stating as the basis that the Appellant had failed to establish compensable injury by accident. As is set out in the Form 50 in the attachment to Form 50, #11, "Further grounds or unusual aspects of claim:" the Form 50 was being filed due to this denial and the basis for denial of the claim being that,

"The claimant had failed to prove a compensable injury."

The Form 50 requested three things that being: that the Claimant had sustained compensable injury under the Act; that he was entitled to medical examination and treatment with reinstatement of the medical care that had previously been, "authorized and provided"; and that temporary total disability benefits be reinstated from the date that those had been stopped under the WCC Form 15(II). (R., pp. 46-50). There was no request in the Form 50 for a permanent disability award for any general disability (wage loss) or for specific loss of use to any body part or organ. As required by the Act under WCC Form 50 #1, he listed as,

"body parts affected: heart, left hand/arm/shoulder, neck, head (brain), chest. The system is (sic, systemic) electrical shock (all organs, members and bodily parts determined to be related."

The Form 50 again under #11 specifically requested that the compensation benefits that had previously been started and paid and that the medical care, that had been, "authorized and provided", be reinstated as part of the Order finding the injury to be compensable.

In their responsive Form 51 which is the Respondents' pleading placing the parties on notice of the issues for decision, the Respondents stated:

"Denied the employee sustained an injury or illness on or about the date set forth in the application. The reasons for denial are: claimant has failed to meet his burden of proving that he sustained a compensable injury or illness pursuant to the Act."

In reference to the request for medical care, the Respondents checked that it was denied that the employee needed, "medical care as a result of injury or illness.

The reasons for denial are:

Claimant has failed to meet his burden of proving a compensable injury by accident within the course and scope of his employment.

Defendants do not deny that if this claim is found compensable, claimant is in need of additional medical care." (Emphasis added).

Respondents also denied that the Appellant was entitled to temporary total disability benefits.

In his Pre-Hearing Brief, WCC Form 58, under "facts in controversy" in reference to injury by accident and in

reference to medical care, the Appellant listed the following factual issues:

"4a. Facts in controversy:

Whether the Claimant sustained injury by accident - the facts will establish that on May 22rd, 2013, while working on a rotisserie, Claimant touched a broken wire (480 volts) resulting in a severe electrical shock which entered his left hand running through his left arm, shoulder, neck, heart and chest and entering and exiting through his heart and chest.

c. Medical care from the date that medical care was stopped being authorized and continuing until the Claimant reaches maximum medical improvement and/or further order of this Commission." (R., pp. 57-58).

As to the legal issues, the Appellant listed:

5. Legal issues involved:

IN CORRELATION WITH RESPONSES UNDER NUMBER 4:

c. The Claimant's entitlement to medical care as provided for in §42-15-60." (R., p. 59).

In their responsive Form 58 Pre-Hearing Brief, under #4 "Facts in controversy", the Respondents listed the following:

"Defendants have denied this claim pursuant to SC Code §42-9-260. The issue for this hearing is whether or not claimant can meet his burden of proving a compensable claim pursuant to the Act." (R., p. 153).

Under #5. "Legal issues involved", the Respondents listed the following legal issues:

"§42-9-10, §42-9-20, §42-9-30, and §42-9-260." (R., p. 153).

(Note: there is no reference to the denial of compensable injury under §42-1-160 and there is no issue raised under §42-15-60. The medical provision section of the Act).

Additionally, under #3 "Type of injury and body part(s)", the Respondents in their Pre-Hearing Brief listed:

"Claimant alleges injury to his neck, left shoulder and heart. Defendants have denied this claim as failing to meet the standards for being a compensable claim." (R., p. 153).

(Note: there is no mention of the head or neck in the Form 58.)

At the hearing on January 13, 2014, after a Pre-Hearing conference off the Record, the Hearing Commissioner recited the positions of the parties and the purpose of the hearing and stated:

"The purpose of today's hearing is to determine issues raised in Forms 50 and 51." (R., p. 396, ll. 17-19).

* * *

"Prior to going on the Record, we held a pre-hearing conference. It is the position of the Claimant that not only did he injure his neck and his left shoulder and arm, which are admitted body parts, that he also sustained a myocardial infarction from the shock, which ultimately resulted in V.S.D. or a hole in his heart. He also contends that he suffered a head and possibly a brain injury, but because the focus of his treatment has been just about exclusively on the heart, his head and his -- and possible brain injury have not been explored or properly and thoroughly evaluated. So he

seeks a finding of compensability of not only the neck and the left shoulder, which the Defendants admit, and those are the only admitted body parts, I want to emphasize that, the neck and the shoulder, but he also believes and contends and would content that the medical evidence supports his finding by more than a greater weight of the evidence standard, but he at least meets that standard, and he also injured his heart and his head. He seeks temporary total disability benefits from September 15, 2013 to the present and continuing. He seeks reimbursement for all those expenses he has incurred thus far with regard to the evaluation and treatment of his injured body parts. He seeks an Order requiring the Defendants to provide treatment with Dr. Travis, who is his treating cardiovascular surgeon, as well as Dr. Lide, his cardiologist. Drs. Travis and Lide were initially authorized before benefits were denied. And if this claim is compensable, the Defendants do not -- and obviously defense believed this claim is not compensable in regard to the heart and brain, but if it is found compensable, the Defendants would agree that Dr. Travis and Dr. Lide would be appropriate providers and that they are familiar with the Claimant's condition and they have treated him and they initially were selected by the Defendants. As the Claimant has not reached maximum medical improvement, any determination of permanency would be premature. . . ." (R., p. 400, l. 24 - p. 402, l. 14).

The Commissioner issued notes for her decision and requested Appellant's Counsel draft a proposed Order. Subsequently after request to clarify her notes for decision, the Commissioner sent an email to the parties that is part of the Commission Record addressing whether or not the brain or an alleged injury to the brain was in any

way an issue at the hearing; the Commissioner sent the following note:

"I reviewed my handwritten notes for this case, which state that the 'main thing' Preston asked for (and why he filed the 50) was for the heart, as you both already had a temporary benefits hearing on the issue with Commissioner Beck. Looking at my notes, I perhaps was in error to adjudicate the brain injury, because it is rather clear that Preston did not want to pursue the issue at the hearing; if he wanted it adjudicated at the hearing, he clearly would have put up some sort of evidence. Further, I would have specifically asked if the issue was to be held in abeyance. I fear it is all a misapprehension on my part. Therefore, out of an abundance of caution, I am allowing Preston to add, 'denied at this juncture' (or words to that effect) because claimant specifically requested a finding of compensability for the heart. As Preston filed the pleading, he does get to determine which issues are on the, 'table'". (Emphasis added: where both bold and underlining appear.) (R., p. 526).

In Commissioner Barden's Award, in reference to entitlement to either temporary total disability benefits or medical care based on injury to the brain and/or the head, the Commissioner made the following Findings of Fact:

"14. The Claimant is specifically requesting a finding of compensability for the heart and no medical evidence was presented that Claimant sustained or even may have sustained a head or brain injury. I therefore find that at this point he has not met his burden of proof with regard to any injury to the head/brain, and any benefits for the head/brain are denied at this juncture.

15. While the head and brain are listed as bodily parts involved under #3 in the Pre-Hearing Brief, the Claimant also notes in his Pre-Hearing Brief that this is a systemic electrical shock and requests treatment for, "all organs, members and bodily parts determined to be related." I note from the testimony and records of Dr. Greenfield that the Claimant had tenderness in the left arm and shoulder and was diagnosed with muscle shock. In her deposition she stated that this tenderness found on examination is more indicative of actual injury to those areas than just the pain that is caused by a heart attack. Dr. Lide in his treatment notes and specifically on September 17, 2013 recorded that, "we tried this patient on Neurontin last month when he appeared to have peripheral neuropathy secondary to electrocution at work. Dr. Lide also recorded on the August 13th visit that he was having numbness in his great toe and suggested this neurological symptom was due to the electrical shock he experienced rather than the myocardial infarction. Thus, if any problems are opined to have stemmed from the electrical shock injury which is outside of the area and expertise of Dr. Lide and Dr. Travis, those doctors may request referral for him to other physicians for evaluation and treatment but the Defendants retain the right to contest whether those are related to the accident and to select the physicians for treatment of any causally related problems." (R., pp. 1-22).

She also made the specific Finding that:

"12. Claimant has not reached maximum medical improvement."

Under Conclusions of Law, in addition to the Conclusions of Law finding that the Appellant had sustained

compensable injury by accident and citing the law as to her decision to reinstate temporary total disability benefits, in reference to medical care, the Commissioner made the following Conclusion of Law applicable to the medical issues:

"3. Under SC Code §42-15-60 the determination is made as to the provision of medical care."

After the Briefs and hearing before the Full Commission Panel, the Full Commission Panel issued a, "Request for a Proposed Decision and Order" on June 6, 2014 wherein the Full Commission made as its only Finding and decision:

"The Commissioners considered the matter and affirm in part and reverse in part the Decision and Order of the Single Commissioner.

* * *

"The Panel denies the brain injury based in insufficient evidence."

In its actual filed Order, the Full Commission reiterated as its Findings of Fact the Findings of Fact of the Single Commissioner but inserted numerous Findings in reference to the pleadings, the Pre-Hearing Briefs, Notice of Issues to be Decided at the hearing, all in reference to allegations that the Appellant was seeking, "compensation" for injury to the brain/head". See specifically Findings

of Fact #14 through #28 which are additional Findings to those made by the Hearing Commissioner. Again, the Full Commission's only specific Finding in its instructions was that there was, "insufficient evidence" to establish injury to the brain or head.

Under Conclusions of Law, the Full Commission made Conclusions of Law in reference to medical care that the Appellant is entitled to medical care for his heart condition and that he,

"may be entitled to additional medical treatment for other causally related conditions subject to the Findings of Fact as stated herein"

but that the Appellant was not entitled to any medical care,

"for any alleged head and/or brain injury."

The Full Commission Order also sets forth additional Conclusions of Law in reference to what the Order Request Notes stated: the Appellant's right to amend a Form 50; the Appellant's right to file a Pre-Hearing Brief; and the Appellant's right and any parties right to request a continuance for additional discovery, none of which were in their directions/instructions for an Order. (R., pp. 43-44). Again, the only directive in the Full Commission request was for an Order finding that:

"the Panel denies the brain injury based in insufficient evidence".

ARGUMENTS

- I. WHERE THE ISSUES BEFORE THE HEARING COMMISSIONER WERE WHETHER THE CLAIMANT HAD SUSTAINED COMPENSABLE INJURY BY ACCIDENT AND WHETHER HE WAS ENTITLED TO REINSTATEMENT OF WEEKLY COMPENSATION BENEFITS AND TO MEDICAL BENEFITS FOR ALL CAUSALLY RELATED INJURIES AND CONDITIONS STEMMING FROM THE ACCIDENT, AND WHERE THE COMMISSION FOUND COMPENSABLE INJURY BY ACCIDENT, FOUND THAT THE CLAIMANT WAS NOT AT MAXIMUM MEDICAL IMPROVEMENT AND REINSTATED ALL BENEFITS, THE FULL COMMISSION PANEL ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW BY DENYING THE CLAIMANT THE RIGHT TO EVER REQUEST BENEFITS FOR THE HEAD AND BRAIN.

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