THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA  
WORKERS COMPENSATION COMMISSION

---

Appellant Case No. 2014-001816

---

**RECEIVED**

OCT 29 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Clarence Winfrey ..... Employee, Appellant,

v.

Archway Services Inc  
.....Employer,

and

American Fire & Casualty Insurance Company.....Carrier,  
Respondents,

---

**RESPONDENTS' FINAL BRIEF**

---

McANGUS GOUDELOCK & COURIE, L.L.C.  
Brett H. Bayne  
Meridian 10<sup>th</sup> Floor  
1320 Main Street  
P.O. Box 12519  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-2519  
(803) 779-2300

*Attorneys for Appellants, Archway Services Inc.,  
American Fire & Casualty Insurance Company,

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES RAISED BY APPELLANT**

- I. WHETHER THE FULL COMMISSION PANEL ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW BY DENYING THE CLAIMANT THE RIGHT TO EVER REQUEST BENEFITS FOR THE HEAD AND BRAIN WHERE THE ISSUES BEFORE THE HEARING COMMISSIONER WERE WHETHER THE CLAIMANT HAD SUSTAINED COMPENSABLE INJURY BY ACCIDENT AND WHETHER HE WAS ENTITLED TO REINSTATEMENT OF WEEKLY COMPENSATION BENEFITS AND TO MEDICAL BENEFITS FOR ALL CAUSALLY RELATED INJURIES AND CONDITIONS STEMMING FROM THE ACCIDENT AND WHERE THE COMMISSION FOUND COMPENSABLE INJURY BY ACCIDENT, FOUND THAT THE CLAIMANT WAS NOT AT MAXIMUM MEDICAL IMPROVEMENT AND REINSTATED ALL BENEFITS.
  
- II. WHETHER THE FULL COMMISSION PANEL ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW BY DENYING THE CLAIMANT THE RIGHT TO EVER REQUEST MEDICAL AND/OR COMPENSATION BENEFITS FOR INJURY TO THE BRAIN AND/OR HEAD WHERE THE CLAIMANT IS REQUIRED TO LIST ALL POSSIBLY AFFECTED BODY PARTS ON HIS REQUEST FOR HEARING AND WHERE THE DEFENDANTS GAVE NO NOTICE OF THIS DEFENSE.
  
- III. WHETHER THE FULL COMMISSION PANEL ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW FROM CONSIDERING THE ISSUES AND DENYING THE CLAIMANT ON A PERMANENT BASIS ANY BENEFITS, MEDICAL OR COMPENSATION, RELATED TO INJURY TO THE HEAD AND/OR BRAIN WHERE THE CLAIMANT HAD REMOVED SUCH FROM CONSIDERATION AT THE TIME OF THE HEARING.
  
- IV. WHETHER THE FULL COMMISSION PANEL ERRED IN VIOLATION OF ITS STATUTORY REVIEW/DECISION OBLIGATION BY ALLOWING DEFENSE COUNSEL TO DRAFT ITS OWN FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW ADDRESSING THE ISSUES RAISED FOR REVIEW AS REQUIRED BY LAW AND BY ISSUING AN ORDER THAT WENT BEYOND ITS DIRECTION AND BY ISSUING AN ORDER WRITTEN BY DEFENSE COUNSEL THAT DELETED AND/OR SUBSTANTIALLY MODIFIED UNRELATED BUT SUBSTANTIAL FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW MADE BY THE HEARING COMMISSIONER.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This claim arises out of an alleged accident on May 22, 2013. On that date, Claimant contends he was momentarily shocked by a rotisserie oven he was working on. Following the accident, Claimant continued to work for the remainder of the day and the following day. Claimant had scheduled time off after May 23, 2013. Claimant suffered a myocardial infarction on or around May 28, 2013. On May 28, 2013—six days after the accident—Claimant presented to Doctor's Care and Lexington Medical Center with severe three vessel coronary disease, an occluded coronary artery, and an acute myocardial infarction caused by a plaque rupture which caused an acute ventricular septal defect. At Doctor's Care, Claimant reported he was having no chest pressure and had started sweating that morning (on May 28th). At Lexington Medical Center, Claimant indicated he was not having chest pain but had been sweating. Following the diagnosis, Claimant underwent surgery to repair the ventricular septal defect caused by the plaque rupture and subsequent myocardial infarction. The medical records in the case revealed that Claimant has a distinct family history of coronary disease with his father passing away at a similar age from coronary disease and a myocardial infarction. Further, the medical records indicated that Claimant was a 35 year pack-a-day smoker and drank a case of beer per week. Based on all of the medical records available to Carrier, this claim was ultimately denied on September 13, 2013.

Immediately following the denial of benefits, Claimant filed a Form 15, Section III requesting a hearing as well as a Summons and Complaint in Richland County Circuit Court alleging a bad faith denial of benefits, alleging that S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-260 is unconstitutional, seeking a temporary restraining order to stop Respondents from denying

the claim, and seeking an Order from Judge Lee finding the claim compensable and awarding benefits. The Summons and Complaint was filed on or around September 27, 2013. Judge Lee issued and then rescinded the temporary restraining order sought by Claimant on or around October 1, 2013. Judge Benjamin conducted a lengthy hearing on the merits of the Complaint but has not yet rendered a decision as to whether S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-260 is unconstitutional. After the temporary restraining order was rescinded, the Commission set Appellant's Form 15, Section III for a hearing before Commissioner Beck. In addition, Respondents filed several motions with the Commission including a Motion to Quash the deposition of the adjuster, a Motion to Quash discovery of the adjuster's claim file, and a Motion to Postpone the Hearing.

A hearing on all of the motions and on Appellant's Form 15, Section III was set on September 30, 2013 for November 11, 2013. Prior to the hearing, Commissioner Beck conducted a standard pre-hearing conference as well as a Motions Hearing wherein Commissioner Beck ruled on all outstanding issues raised by the motions including Respondents' Motion to Postpone. Each of these motions affected the ability to conduct the Form 15 hearing and were necessary to have prior to the hearing. Specifically, Respondents' Motion to Postpone alleged the Commission did not have jurisdiction to hear the claim because Appellant had asserted the statute (42-9-260) by which the hearing was scheduled was unconstitutional and Appellant could not claim or exercise the benefits of the statute while simultaneously arguing it was unconstitutional for Respondents to also act pursuant to the statute. Commissioner Beck warned Appellant of the risk of proceeding based on the jurisdictional issues raised by Respondents. Commissioner Beck gave Appellant the opportunity to postpone the Form 15 hearing in

order to spend time preparing for each of the motions that were timely served. Appellant turned down that opportunity. At the hearing, all parties agreed that the only issue for Commissioner Beck was to determine whether or not Respondents had conducted a good faith investigation. In order to make that determination, Commissioner Beck limited the review of evidence to only those documents produced prior to the date of denial – September 13, 2013. Following the hearing, Commissioner Beck issued a Decision and Order on December 5, 2013 finding that Respondents had conducted a good faith investigation. The Full Commission conducted a review hearing on May 19, 2014. The Full Commission issued its Decision and Order on July 25, 2014. That Decision and Order is the subject of this appeal.

By way of further background, on October 22, 2013, after the Form 15 hearing was set by the Commission but before that hearing was held, Appellant filed a Form 50 requesting a hearing on compensability for alleged injuries to his head, brain, left hand, left arm, chest, heart, and all other organs, members, and bodily parts. A hearing notice for the Form 50 hearing was sent by the Commission on December 6, 2013 with explicit instructions that the hearing would be to determine compensability of Appellant's alleged injuries to his head, brain, left hand, left arm, chest, heart, and all other organs, members, and bodily parts. The Form 50 hearing was held before the Single Commissioner on January 13, 2014. Following the hearing, the Single Commissioner issued a Decision and Order on February 27, 2014. The Full Commission conducted a review hearing on May 19, 2014. The Full Commission issued its Decision and Order on July 25, 2014. That Decision and Order is also on appeal by both parties in a companion action.

Prior to the briefing on this appeal, the parties entered into the voluntary pilot mediation program in an attempt to resolve this matter. Due to certain issues with obtaining records and opinions, as well as scheduling issues, this mediation did not occur until May 1, 2015. Unfortunately, the parties reached an impasse and this matter is now back before this Court on the original appeals.

## CONSTITUTIONAL ESTOPPEL/JURISDICTIONAL ISSUES

At the outset, Respondents assert that the Commission lacked subject matter jurisdiction to conduct any hearing on any part of the claim underlying this appeal and this court should vacate all Decisions and Orders in this case and remand the case to the Commission with instructions to hold the case until the Circuit Court has issued a ruling on Appellant's lawsuit alleging S.C. Code Ann § 42-9-260 is unconstitutional.

Commissioner Beck ultimately denied Respondents motion related to this issue on the basis that the Act requires a hearing be set within 60 days. However, the Act states that a moving party may postpone the hearing. As Appellant has vigorously argued in his briefs, Respondents were the moving party in this matter. When a hearing is set pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-260, the requirement to hold the hearing within sixty days is waived pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. Reg. 67-613(B)(3). That regulation states the hearing will be postponed until the following month and if the commissioner cannot hear the case by the following month, the case will be returned to the Judicial Department for reassignment. Because of the underlying declaratory judgment action filed by Appellant, the Commission did not have jurisdiction to hear this matter and should have complied with S.C. Code Ann. Reg. 67-613(B)(3) by returning the case to the Judicial Department and indefinitely postponing the hearing until the circuit court could make a decision on Appellant's Complaint.

Appellant has alleged an injury by accident during the course and scope of his employment due to electrical shock on May 22, 2013. Respondents denied the claim on or about September 16, 2013 following a good faith investigation pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-260(B)(3). Appellant responded to the denial of benefits by filing a

Summons and Complaint on September 27, 2013 in the South Carolina Circuit Court alleging:

- a. A bad faith denial of benefits;
- b. That S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-260 is unconstitutional and requesting a Declaratory Judgment to that effect; and
- c. Moving for a temporary restraining order to force Respondents to pay benefits outside of the jurisdiction of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission.

Appellant improperly sought and obtained a temporary restraining order from Judge Alison Renee Lee on October 1, 2013 ordering Respondents to pay temporary compensation benefits and provide medical care to Appellant. Respondents filed a Motion to Dismiss and a Brief in Support of the Motion to Dismiss the temporary restraining order and the underlying Summons and Complaint with Judge Lee on or about October 2, 2013. Judge Lee conducted a hearing on the temporary restraining order on October 8, 2013 and dismissed the temporary restraining order on October 9, 2013 stating “[t]he Commission has the sole authority to reinstate benefits if appropriate.” However, Judge Lee did not dismiss the Declaratory Judgment action against Respondents finding that legal challenges to a statute are “...properly raised for the first time...in a declaratory judgment action before the circuit court.” Respondents filed an Answer and Counterclaim with the South Carolina Circuit Court on October 21, 2013.

Appellant has specifically alleged that “...the provisions of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-260...(A) violated the [Appellant’s] right to due process of law...(B) that the provisions of §42-9-260 are in direct conflict with provisions of the Administrative

Procedures Act concerning notice and hearing...and (C) denies the [Appellant] equal protection of the laws by creating an irrational classification...” Appellant has also stated “...pursuant to S.C. Code §42-9-260 the constitutionality of which is the basis of the Declaratory Judgment Relief requested.” In addition, Appellant presented to the Circuit Court a signed Verification asserting that the allegations and issues raised in the Complaint are true, accurate, and with merit. Appellant also filed a Motion for a New Trial with the South Carolina Circuit Court asking for a “...preliminary or prima facie determination that [S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-260] is unconstitutional...”

Appellant simultaneously requested a hearing before this Commission pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-260—the very statute he seeks to invalidate as unconstitutional in the ongoing companion Circuit Court case. It strains belief that on one hand Appellant has argued at length to the Circuit Court that S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-260 is unconstitutional and on the other hand demands relief from the Commission under the same statute. This inapposite position must be resolved before the Commission can entertain Appellant’s allegations related to the workers’ compensation claim—including a hearing on the denial of benefits. Further, if the Circuit Court finds S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-260 unconstitutional—as Appellant demands—the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Commission would have no guidance under the law to conduct a hearing for the suspension or termination of benefits<sup>1</sup>. Additionally, if the Circuit Court finds S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-260 unconstitutional—as Appellant demands—the underlying purpose

---

<sup>1</sup> Incidentally, Defendants would also have no guidance under the law on how to pay, terminate, and/or suspend benefits.

of the scheduled hearing before the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission, specifically to rule on the denial of benefits pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-260, would be rendered unconstitutional.

Respondents contend that the Commission may only conduct the 42-9-260 hearing (or any other hearing) in this claim once the Circuit Court has ruled on the constitutionality of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-260 pursuant to Appellant's demand. Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. Reg. 67-613(B)(1)(e), any hearing in this matter was premature pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-260 where the underlying constitutionality issues raised by Appellant and under consideration by the Circuit Court have not yet been adjudicated.

Constitutional Estoppel is a principle which holds that a party cannot avail himself of the provisions of a statute while also reversing his position and contending the law under which he sought to avail himself is invalid. Typically this issue arises when a party proceeds with an action, loses, and then asserts the law the party sought recovery under is unconstitutional. However, Respondents contend this principle is a two-way street, so to speak. Specifically, constitutional estoppel should prevent a party from seeking the protections and/or benefits under the same statute the party asserts is unconstitutional.

It is an elementary rule of constitutional law that **one may not 'retain the benefits of the Act while attacking the constitutionality of one of its important conditions.'** *Fahey v. Mallonee*, 332 U.S. 245, 67 S.Ct. 1552, 91 L.Ed. 2030 (1947) *citing* *United States v. City and County of San Francisco*, 310 U.S. 16, 29, 60 S.Ct. 749, 756, 84 L.Ed. 1050 (1940). While the majority of these cases deal with regulatory

authorities and federal statutes, the principles are the same—you cannot simultaneously obtain benefits under a statute while arguing the same statute it is unconstitutional. Because the constitutionality of 42-9-260, as challenged by Appellant, is grossly material to the underlying proceedings, the Commission did not have jurisdiction, and Appellant did not have standing, to conduct a hearing before the Commission prior to an adjudication of the merits before the Circuit Court.

Therefore, for the foregoing reasons, this court should rule any hearing before the Commission should have been postponed until such time as the Circuit Court could rule on the constitutionality of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-260 pursuant to Appellant’s demands. Only after the Circuit Court has ruled on the constitutionality of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-260—as demanded by Appellant—would any issue raised by Appellant before the Commission be ripe for a hearing before the Commission. In other words, Appellant’s choice to vigorously pursue a claim that the Act is unconstitutional strips the Commission of jurisdiction over compensability until such time as the Circuit Court can rule on the matter. Therefore, this court must vacate all prior Orders and remand this matter to the Commission with instructions to hold the case until such time as the Circuit Court rules on Appellant’s Declaratory Judgment.

#### **LEGAL ARGUMENT ON APPELLANT’S ISSUES RAISED ON APPEAL**

##### **I. THE FULL COMMISSION DID NOT ERR BY DENYING COMPENSABILITY AND/OR BENEFITS FOR CLAIMANT’S ALLEGED, BUT UNPROVEN, HEAD AND/OR BRAIN INJURY BECAUSE CLAIMANT FAILED TO PRESENT ANY EVIDENCE OF A CAUSALLY RELATED HEAD AND/OR BRAIN INJURY.**

Appellant filed a Form 50 on October 21, 2013 alleging injuries to his “heart, left hand/arm/shoulder, neck, head (brain), chest.” (R. p. 46). Thereafter, Respondents filed a

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